

Heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues and dose–response modelling of nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy with beta-particle emitters: A review

Clarita Saldarriaga Vargas, Michelle Andersson, Céline Bouvier-Capely, Wei Bo Li, Balázs Madas, Peter Covens, Lara Struelens, Lidia Strigari

▶ To cite this version:

Clarita Saldarriaga Vargas, Michelle Andersson, Céline Bouvier-Capely, Wei Bo Li, Balázs Madas, et al.. Heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues and dose–response modelling of nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy with beta-particle emitters: A review. Zeitschrift fur Medizinische Physik, 2024, 33, pp.459-630. 10.1016/j.zemedi.2023.02.006 . irsn-04338743

HAL Id: irsn-04338743 https://irsn.hal.science/irsn-04338743v1

Submitted on 20 Dec 2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial - NoDerivatives 4.0 International License

Heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues and dose-response modelling of nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy with beta-particle emitters: A review

Clarita Saldarriaga Vargas^{a,b,*}, Michelle Andersson^{a,c}, Céline Bouvier-Capely^d, Wei Bo Li^e, Balázs Madas^f, Peter Covens^b, Lara Struelens^a, Lidia Strigari^g

^a Radiation Protection Dosimetry and Calibrations, Belgian Nuclear Research Centre (SCK CEN), Mol, Belgium ^b In Vivo Cellular and Molecular Imaging Laboratory, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

^c Medical Physics Department, Jules Bordet Institute, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

^d Institut de Radioprotection et Sûreté Nucléaire (IRSN), PSE-SANTE/SESANE/LRSI, Fontenay-aux-Roses, France

^e Institute of Radiation Medicine, Helmholtz Zentrum München - German Research Center for Environmental Health (GmbH), Neuherberg, Germany

^fEnvironmental Physics Department, Centre for Energy Research, Budapest, Hungary

^g Department of Medical Physics, IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Received 7 December 2022; accepted 27 February 2023

Abstract

Absorbed dose heterogeneity in kidney tissues is an important issue in radiopharmaceutical therapy. The effect of absorbed dose heterogeneity in nephrotoxicity is, however, not fully understood yet, which hampers the implementation of treatment optimization by obscuring the interpretation of clinical response data and the selection of optimal treatment options. Although some dosimetry methods have been developed for kidney dosimetry to the level of microscopic renal substructures, the clinical assessment of the microscopic distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in kidney tissues currently remains a challenge. This restricts the anatomical resolution of clinical dosimetry, which hinders a thorough clinical investigation of the impact of absorbed dose heterogeneity. The potential of absorbed dose–response modelling to support individual treatment optimization in radiopharmaceutical therapy is recognized and gaining attraction. However, bio-physical modelling is currently underexplored for the kidney, where particular modelling challenges arise from the convolution of a complex functional organization of renal tissues with the function-mediated dose distribution of radiopharmaceuticals. This article reviews and discusses the heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues and the absorbed dose–response modelling of nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy. The review focuses mainly on the peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with beta-particle emitting somatostatin analogues, for which the scientific literature reflects over two decades of clinical experience. Additionally, detailed research perspectives are proposed to address various identified challenges to progress in this field.

Keywords: Absorbed dose heterogeneity; Radiopharmaceutical therapy; Kidney dosimetry; Dose–response modelling; Normal tissue complication probability (NTCP); Biophysical modelling

Z Med Phys xxx (2023) xxx-xxx https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zemedi.2023.02.006 www.elsevier.com/locate/zemedi

^{*} Corresponding author: Clarita Saldarriaga Vargas, Belgian Nuclear Research Centre (SCK CEN), Boeretang 200, 2400 Mol, Belgium. *E-mail:* csvargas@sckcen.be (C. Saldarriaga Vargas).

Contents

Introduction	
Radiopharmaceutical dosimetry.	
Computational models for dosimetry in kidney tissues at sub-org	an level
Mathematical modelling of radiobiological effects	
Linear quadratic model	
Biologically effective dose, BED	
Equivalent uniform dose, EUD	
Normal tissue complication probability, NTCP	
Heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in radiopharmac	eutical therapy with ¹⁷⁷ Lu- and ⁹⁰ Y-radiolabelled somatostatin
analogues	
Kidney absorbed dose-response modelling in radiopharmaceutica	1 therapy
Discussion and research perspectives	
Radiopharmaceutical biodistribution	
Absorbed dose distribution	
Absorbed dose-response modelling	
Conclusion	
Ethical approval	
Funding	
Informed consent	
CRediT author contributions statement.	
Declaration of Competing Interest	
References	

Introduction

In radiopharmaceutical therapy, the kidneys are often a major organ at risk (OAR) and can be a dose-limiting organ due to radiation-induced nephrotoxicity [1,2]. The distribution of activity is usually not uniform in kidney tissues due to differential uptake of radiopharmaceutical along distinctive nephron substructures. This is influenced by aspects such as the molecular weight, charge, and molecular conformation of the radioligand, as well as the expression of target receptors in kidney tissues [2,3]. Radioligands based on relatively small (< 30 kDa) molecules, such as radiolabelled peptides and small antibody fragments, are easily filtered by the nephron glomerulus, resulting in rapid clearance from blood circulation and passage to the nephron tubules. Once in the glomerular filtrate, small radioligands can be reabsorbed and temporarily trapped in the proximal tubule cells of the renal cortex and of the outer stripe of the renal outer medulla [3–6]. Additionally, the functioning of distinct types of nephrons can impact the distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in the kidneys [7]. This heterogeneous distribution of radiopharmaceuticals can lead to a corresponding heterogeneous distribution of absorbed dose across renal tissue regions [6-8], and even among the distinct substructures within them [9,10], particularly for radionuclides emitting charged-particle radiation with short penetration range in tissues like alpha particles and low- to medium-energy electrons.

Differences in the sub-organ spatial and temporal absorbed dose distributions of radiopharmaceuticals in the kidneys increase the difficulty of determining accurate absorbed dose-effect relationships for nephrotoxicity useful for predicting the clinical response of different radiopharmaceutical therapy settings. In peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT), for example, the microscopic absorbed dose distribution in human kidneys is thought to contribute to the seemingly lower occurrence of nephrotoxicity of ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled somatostatin analogues when compared with similar ⁹⁰Y-labelled peptides [7,11]. The glomeruli are sometimes thought to be the absorbed dose-limiting substructure of the kidney in radiopharmaceutical therapy labelled with some beta- emitters [12–15]. Yet, loss of proximal tubules has been associated with long-term nephrotoxicity in mice with either beta or alpha particle emitting radioligands [8,16]. Biophysical models to predict clinical endpoints of tissue toxicity based on absorbed dose and radiobiological considerations are highly desired to support the implementation of individual treatment evaluation and planning in radiopharmaceutical therapy [17,18]. Models for estimating normal tissue complication probability (NTCP) developed for conventional external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) could be considered for radiopharmaceutical therapy, where adaptations are required to account for differences between modalities in the temporal and spatial characteristics of radiation delivery [19,20].

This article reviews the heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues and the absorbed dose-response modelling of nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy. First, some fundamental methods used for radiation dosimetry in nuclear medicine and mathematical modelling of the radiobiological effects of radiotherapy are summarized. An overview of computational models of the human kidney and its substructures, which allow radiation dosimetry of heterogeneous radionuclide distributions at sub-organ level, is presented. Next, the heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues in PRRT with beta-particle emitting somatostatin analogues is reviewed. The focus is mainly on radiopeptides $[^{90}$ Y-DOTA⁰,Tyr³]-octreotide $(^{90}$ Y-DOTA-TOC) and $[^{177}$ Lu-DOTA⁰,Tyr³]-octreotate (¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-TATE), for which the scientific literature reflects over two decades of clinical experience [21-23]. This is followed by a review of models for estimating NTCP for nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy. Finally, the topics addressed in the literature review are discussed and detailed research perspectives to address various identified challenges to progress in this field are proposed, in line with the strategic research agendas of the European Radiation Dosimetry Group (EURADOS) (https://eurados.sckcen.be/) [24], the Multidisciplinary European Low Dose Initiative (MELODI) (https://melodi-online.eu/) [25], and the European Alliance for Medical Radiation Protection Research (EURAMED) (https://www.euramed.eu/) [26].

Radiopharmaceutical dosimetry

The internal dosimetry methodology developed by the Medical Internal Radiation Dose (MIRD) Committee and the International Commission on Radiological Protection (ICRP) is commonly used to assess the absorbed dose from the administration of radiopharmaceuticals in nuclear medicine [27]. The basic formalism can be expressed in a timeindependent manner as:

$$D(r_T) = \sum_{rS} \widetilde{A}(r_S) \cdot S(r_T \leftarrow r_S)$$
(1)

where $D(r_{\rm T})$ is the mean absorbed dose to target region $r_{\rm T}$ delivered by the cumulated activity in all source regions; \tilde{A} $(r_{\rm S})$ is the time-integrated activity in source region $r_{\rm S}$; and $S(r_{\rm T}, r_{\rm S})$ is the radionuclide-specific absorbed dose rate per unit of activity in target region $r_{\rm T}$ delivered by source region $r_{\rm S}$ (often referred to as S value). \tilde{A} denotes the total number of radioactive decays (determined by integrating the time-activity curve from time 0 to infinity) occurring within an organ or a tissue region accumulating the radio-pharmaceutical. \tilde{A} can be estimated by quantitative imaging at several time points after the administration of the radio-pharmaceutical. This may result in an assessment of organ

level, sub-organ level, or voxel-specific pharmacokinetics [28,29].

S values depend on several parameters, including the type, energy, and abundance of the decay radiation emissions, the distance between the point of emission of the radiation and the target tissue (which depends on the sourcetarget tissue geometry), the material composition and density along the path between source and target, and the mass and composition of the target tissue. S values are calculated for a specific radionuclide using specific reference computational anatomical models or for a voxel geometry using radiation transport simulations [30,31]. Such anatomical models consist of compartments which mimic the geometry, the elemental composition and the density of tissues in the human body [32-36]. For S value calculations, radioactivity (and dose deposition) is assumed to be uniformly distributed throughout a source (or target) compartment. Therefore, a phantom model may consist of multiple compartments, each corresponding to a different source and/or target tissue or cellular region, to allow the consideration of heterogeneous distributions of radiopharmaceuticals among the represented anatomical regions.

Computational models for dosimetry in kidney tissues at sub-organ level

A few computational models of the human kidney or its substructures are available in the literature which allow absorbed dose estimates of radionuclide distributed at the sub-organ level based on the MIRD dosimetry formalism [9,10,32,37,38].

Already in the late 60's, Snyder and Ford [37] and then McAfee [38] published two independent computational models of the kidney consisting of three regions representing the renal cortex, medulla, and inner renal regions (pelvis and papilla). The cortex and medulla were modelled as two concentric ellipsoidal shells. In the phantom model of Snyder and Ford, the medulla region was further delimited by 32 circular cones representing medullary pyramids, and the intra-medullary space between the pyramids was apportioned to the cortex region. These models, however, were not widely used in nuclear medicine dosimetry, likely because dose estimates were reported only for two radionuclides (¹⁹⁷Hg and ²⁰³Hg). Also, time-dependent activity biodistribution information at the sub-kidney level was still very limited in the few decades following the publication of the models.

A few decades after the introduction of Snyder's and McAfee's models, the MIRD committee published in pamphlet No. 19 a set of six age-dependent multiregional models of the kidney (Figure 1A) [32]. The MIRD19 models are defined using simple mathematical surfaces (so-called



Figure 1. Examples of computational models for internal dosimetry of human kidney tissues at sub-organ level. A: 3D representation of kidney model of MIRD pamphlet No. 19 (figure adapted from [32]). B: 2D representation of a nephron model [9].

stylized models), which delimit four anatomical regions: renal cortex, medullary pyramids, papilla, and renal pelvis (Figure 1A). Absorbed fractions of energy emitted and S values were reported for each kidney region as a source (and/or target) for 26 electron and photon-emitting diagnostic and therapeutic radionuclides. Full utilization of the models requires serial imaging of the kidneys with regions of interest assigned to at least the renal cortex and medulla. In another study, Konijnenberg et al. [7] implemented the MIRD19 model as a lattice of 3-mm wide cubic voxels. Each voxel of the cortex region consisted of two compartments (a cylinder of 1.7-mm diameter in the centre and a surrounding region), allowing the authors to model a cortical uptake with a streaky pattern relatively similar to that observed in kidney autoradiographs with a radiolabelled peptide [4].

Going more in detail into the anatomical structures of the kidney, Hobbs et al. [9] described a nephron- and cellularbased kidney dosimetry methodology for alpha-particle radiopharmaceutical therapy. The macro-to-micro modelbased methodology assigns kidney time-integrated activity information to microscopic-level kidney substructures of a nephron model. According to Hobbs et al., the glomerulus and the proximal tubule of kidney nephrons are expected to receive the highest absorbed doses from alpha particles in radiopharmaceutical therapy; therefore, they are likely to absorb a dose close to the limiting dose for nephrotoxicity. Thus, their nephron model considered only those two

nephron parts. The nephron was modelled using simple mathematical shapes (i.e., a stylized model) (Figure 1B). Two versions of the nephron model were presented, one for a human nephron, and a scaled version for a murine nephron. S values were reported for the glomerulus and three sub-compartments of the tubule for a range of alpha emitters of clinical interest and their progeny. Although the model was meant for dosimetry of alpha particle emitters in their work, it may also be used for dosimetry of other relevant short penetration-range particles, such as low energy electrons [39]. Another study [10] presented a complete model of a nephron, consisting of six compartments corresponding to different parts of the glomerular corpuscle and tubules. The model of Jabari et al. appears to be a more realistic representation of a human nephron (in their study, however, Jabari et al. do not report what kind of data was used to derive their model). In their study S values were reported for ¹¹¹In, ^{99m}Tc, ¹⁷⁷Lu, ²²⁵Ac, and ²¹²Bi, for radioactivity located in the glomerulus or in the proximal tubule.

Mathematical modelling of radiobiological effects

Linear quadratic model

The linear quadratic (LQ) model is commonly used to describe the relationship between the probability of survival of cells and the delivered dose of ionizing radiation [40]. For

protracted exposures, like in radiopharmaceutical therapy, the fraction of surviving cells (SF) is related to the total physical absorbed dose (D), the radiosensitivity of a specific type of cells (represented by the constants α and β), and the Lea-Catcheside factor G:

$$SF(D) = e^{-\alpha D - G\beta D^2} \tag{2}$$

The generalized Lea-Catcheside factor G for a timedependent absorbed dose rate $(\dot{D}(t))$ is given as [41]:

$$G = \frac{2}{D^2} \int_0^\infty \dot{D}(t) dt \int_0^t e^{-\mu(t-t')} \dot{D}(t') dt'$$
(3)

Radiobiological parameters α and β correspond to the lethal and sub-lethal damages to the DNA relative to the absorbed dose and dose-rate, respectively; and μ is the exponential repair rate constant (with half-life $T_{\mu} = \ln(2)/\mu$) that quantifies the repair rate of sub-lethal damage. These parameters are derived experimentally from preclinical in vitro studies using specific cell lines or from in vivo experiments on rodents. The second integration over the time parameter t'in Equation (3) refers to the exponential repair of a first sublethal event. The first integral term expresses the second sublethal event that can combine with the first event remaining after repair to produce a lethal lesion. As opposed to a single lethal event, sub-lethal damage is dependent on the dose rate. This is characteristic of irradiations with low linear energy transfer radiation, such as beta particles and photons. For acute exposures, like most EBRT exposures, G equals to 1. The total absorbed dose D may be given in n fractions of absorbed dose d (i.e., $D = n \cdot d$), to enable damage repair between fractions to reduce toxicity effects in major OARs.

Other versions of the LQ have been proposed which consider additional factors to account for the effect of other radiobiological phenomena, such as repopulation of cells during treatment (cell loss factor) and the decreased radiosensitivity of hypoxic cells (oxygen enhancement ratio) [42,43].

Biologically effective dose, BED

In EBRT and, more recently radiopharmaceutical therapy, the LQ model has been used to predict clinical endpoints of tumour control probability (TCP) and NTCP [44,45]. The underlying assumption is that the macroscopic tissue response is driven by the death of some cell population(s), and that the magnitude of the biological effect is directly related to the fraction of surviving cells (SF).

The LQ model in Equation (2) implies that a given cumulative absorbed dose can result in different surviving fractions when delivered at different dose rates (or dose fractionation schemes). This variation led to the introduction of the concept of biologically effective dose (BED) to compare the effect of the same cumulative absorbed dose for dif-

ferent tissues and time-irradiation schemes [46,47]. The BED is defined as the cumulative absorbed dose in a target volume (VOI) that is required to cause a given surviving fraction if the dose would be delivered in infinitesimally small doses per fraction or, equivalently, at very low absorbed dose rates. This means that the dose-rate dependency of cell kill (corresponding to the non-linear term D^2 in the exponential in Equation (2)) is incorporated into the definition of BED.

$$SF_{\dot{D}(t) \to 0} = SF_{\dot{D}(t)} \tag{4}$$

Using the LQ model of Equation (2) it follows that:

$$e^{-\alpha BED} = e^{-\alpha D(1 + \frac{GD}{\alpha/\beta})} \tag{5}$$

By solving the previous equation for the BED, the following is obtained:

$$BED = D\left(1 + \frac{GD}{\alpha/\beta}\right) \tag{6}$$

The expression in parenthesis in Equation (6) is known as the relative effectiveness per unit absorbed dose (RE) and is specific for the type of exposure. Thus, the BED can be rewritten as:

$$BED = D \cdot RE \tag{7}$$

In radiopharmaceutical therapy, absorbed dose rate often follows (or is assumed to follow) an exponential decrease as a function of time. Dale [48] demonstrated that in such case, for a complete decay of the source, RE becomes:

$$RE = 1 + \left[\frac{D\lambda_{eff}}{(\alpha/\beta)(\lambda_{eff} + \mu)}\right]$$
(8)

Where λ_{eff} is the effective clearance rate given by the sum of the physical decay and the biological clearance rates.

Equivalent uniform dose, EUD

The concept of an equivalent uniform dose (EUD) was introduced by Niemierko [49] with the aim of facilitating the comparison of alternative treatment plans for which the absorbed dose in tissue is not uniformly distributed. The EUD for tumours is defined as the biologically equivalent absorbed dose that, if given uniformly, will lead to the same cell kill in the tumour volume as the actual heterogeneous absorbed dose distribution. The radiobiological formulations of the EUD are based on cell survival estimations using a radiobiological model [49,50]. Later, based on the empirical power law for partial uniform irradiation of tissue [51], Niemierko presented a semi-phenomenological formulation (Equation (9)), sometimes referred to as the generalized EUD, to apply to normal tissues [52]:

$$gEUD = \left(\sum_{i} v_i D_i^a\right)^{1/a} \tag{9}$$

where v_i is the sub-volume with absorbed dose D_i . The subvolume may correspond with, for example, bins of a dose– volume histogram (DVH). Volume-effect parameter *a* is a model parameter which depends on the tissue and the irradiation characteristics. Values of *a* (or a similar parameter) can be derived by fitting to EBRT clinical data [51–56].

Important to note, the generalized EUD formulation in Equation (9) and other formulations of the EUD are based upon the assumption that tissue function is uniform and independent across tissue sub-volumes v_i , i.e., the tissue is assumed to have a purely parallel-like architecture.

Although the EUD was originally proposed in the context of EBRT treatment planning, it can also be applied in radiopharmaceutical therapy. For that, instead of the generalized EUD (Equation (9)), a radiobiological formulation based on the LQ model accounting for dose rate effects is of interest to consider the biological effect of protracted exposures and tissue specific radiosensitivity [50].

For a volume of interest consisting of N sub-volumes (e.g., voxels, or cells, for a multicellular analysis) receiving different absorbed doses D_i , the surviving fraction becomes:

$$SF = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} SF_i}{N} \tag{10}$$

The EUD is the absorbed dose, which, when uniformly distributed in a target volume, would result in the same biological effect as the absorbed dose from a non-uniform irradiation. Therefore, considering biological effect as a matter of cell survival:

$$SF_{heterogeneity} = SF_{uniformity}$$
 (11)

Using the LQ model of Equation (2) it follows that:

$$e^{-\alpha EUD - \beta EUD^2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} e^{-\alpha D_i - \beta D_i^2}}{N}$$
(12)

By solving the previous equation for the EUD, the following radiobiological formulation of the EUD is obtained [50]:

$$EUD = \frac{1}{2\beta} \left(-\alpha + \sqrt{\alpha^2 - 4\beta \cdot ln\left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^N e^{-\alpha D_i - \beta D_i^2}}{N}\right)} \right)$$
(13)

Other radiobiological formulations of the EUD have been proposed, for example, using a linear model for cell survival [49].

Normal tissue complication probability, NTCP

The complication probability for normal tissues is used in treatment planning as a tool to differentiate between the potential effect of alternative treatment plans. NTCP models are prediction models used in radiotherapy to estimate the risk of radiation-induced complications in normal tissues. These models aim to translate radiation absorbed dose distributions, in combination with tissue, treatment and even patient characteristics, into a predicted probability that a complication will occur.

The absorbed dose dependence of NTCP can be described mathematically by sigmoid functions, which may or not be coupled to a radiobiological model. NTCP models can be classified into empirical and phenomenological models. Empirical models are based on curve fitting of clinical absorbed dose–response data [54], such as that compiled by Emami et al. and the QUANTEC initiative for normal tissues based on general clinical experience in EBRT [55–58]. An empirical model commonly used in EBRT is the 3-parameter (TD_{50} , *m* and *n*) Lyman-Kutcher-Burman (LKB) model [53,54,59]:

$$NTCP_{LKB}(u) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{u} e^{-x^2/2} dx$$
(14)

with:

$$u = \frac{D - TD_{50}(V)}{m \cdot TD_{50}(V)}$$
(15)

and:

$$TD_{50}(V) = TD_{50}(1) \cdot V^{-n} \tag{16}$$

This model assumes a normal distribution of complication as a function of absorbed dose around a mean value, the TD_{50} , corresponding to the uniform absorbed dose given to a tissue volume fraction V that would result in a 50% complication probability. Parameter *m* denotes the slope of the NTCP curve at TD_{50} . Parameter *n* accounts for the effect of partial irradiations (often called volume effects) assuming a power-law relationship [51,53]. Thus, alike the generalized EUD (Equation (9)), a DVH-reduction scheme can be used to associate a heterogeneous absorbed dose pattern with a uniform one inducing the same toxicity. For bilateral whole-kidney external-beam irradiation, Emami et al. and the QUANTEC initiative found that an absorbed dose of 18 and 28 Gy, when delivered in fractions of approximately 2 Gy, corresponded to respectively a 5% and 50% probability of nephropathy within 5 years (corresponding to $TD_{5.5}$ and $TD_{50,5}$ in the LKB model) [55–58]. By fitting to the data of Emami et al. for partial uniform external-beam irradiations of an organ [57], Burman et al. found an *n* parameter value of 0.70 for the kidney [54]. Other sigmoid functions can be used to fit (the same) clinical absorbed dose-response data, which can result in significantly different NTCP estimations, particularly in the tail regions of the sigmoid curve [60,61].

The model parameters of purely empirical approaches depend on the fitting function and are not necessarily representative of radiobiological phenomena. Yet, it is possible to couple an empirical NTCP formulation with a radiobiological model, resulting in a semi-empirical NTCP model. By



Figure 2. Schematic examples of tissue organization structures: a serial string of sub-units (rectangular symbols) (**A**), a parallel structure of sub-units (**B**), and a combined parallel-serial structure of sub-units (**C**) [66]. An example (**D**) of the parallel-serial model applied to the nephron (**E**), the structural and functional sub-unit of the kidney. The parallel structure is the capillary system inside the glomerular capsule, serially followed by the capsule itself and the tubules.

using a dosimetric quantity adjusted by a radiobiological model (e.g., the BED based on the LQ model), empirical NTCP models may be extended to account for the time-related effects of irradiation, such as cellular repair and repopulation between irradiation fractions or during pro-tracted irradiations [12,62,63].

The fact that organ tissues consist of different cell types, which may have distinctive function, spatial organization, radiosensitivity and capacity to repopulate, has led to the consideration of organ architecture to explain and describe the absorbed dose response of normal tissues, particularly in case of partial or non-uniform irradiations. An organ may be considered a collection of independent functional subunits (FSUs) [64,65]. The FSU is a tissue subcomponent which contributes independently to overall organ function, and whose loss results in an incremental loss of function. The impact of partial and non-uniform irradiations depends on the organization of FSUs in tissue, which may be serial, parallel or a combination thereof (Figure 2A-C). In a serial architecture (e.g., spinal cord, oesophagus, colon), the inactivation of a single FSU is sufficient to damage the organ, whereas in a parallel architecture (e.g., lungs, liver), organ injury occurs only if all (or a critical number of) FSUs are inactivated.

Similarly, the organization of substructures and cells within an FSU (parallel, serial, or a cross-link; Figure 2D) may also be considered to analyse the response of more complex tissue structures, such as kidney tissues [66]. The FSU of the kidney is the nephron. Each human kidney con-

tains several hundred thousand nephrons organized in parallel. Yet, the substructures of a nephron (the glomerular tuft and capsule, and the distinct segments of the tubule, cf. Figure 2E) have a predominant serial organization [66].

Phenomenological expressions of NTCP are based on postulates of organ architecture and cell (or FSU) survival estimations based on a radiobiological model, typically the LQ model. In such NTCP models, absorbed dose heterogeneity is considered by dividing the organ into subvolumes containing FSUs and estimating the response probability independently in each sub-volume using a radiobiological model. How the estimated local responses are then compounded into a whole organ response metric depends on the assumptions considered for tissue architecture and radiobiological characteristics. Some underlying assumptions of phenomenological models are that the stochastic killing of FSUs upon exposure to ionizing radiation follows a binomial probability distribution of absorbed dose, and that the radiation response of FSUs is statistically independent (i.e., the inactivation of a FSU does not influence the survival or killing of another FSU, and the location of FSUs within the organ or sub-volume is irrelevant). Moreover, FSUs are assumed to be small enough so that the absorbed dose in an FSU is effectively homogeneous.

Examples of phenomenological models relevant for the kidney are the parallel quantal model [67], the relative seriality model [66], the critical element model [68], and the model proposed by Yorke et al. [69]. The mathematical formulations are specific to the NTCP model (for that, the reader is referred to the literature previously cited and the review by D'Andrea et al. [19]. Model parameters usually have a (radio)biological basis (e.g., parameters used in the LQ model, number of FSUs, number of cells per FSU) or a phenomenological basis (e.g., parameters describing tissue and FSU architecture, the critical number of active FSUs required for an organ to function, etc.). Some of these NTCP models assume that a certain fraction of the kidney's FSUs need to be eradicated for severe renal injury to occur [67–69]. The relative seriality model introduces a parameter to account for organs with a cross-linked serial-parallel architecture [66]. Inter-individual variability in model parameters may as well be considered in the formulation of NTCP, to account for differences between the individual response and the population-averaged response [67,70].

However, the widely used NTCP models suffer from indeterminacies due to the heterogeneity of volume definitions (e.g., tissue function, hollow organs), discrepancies in the definition of tissue volumes, heterogeneity in the data quality, and differences in radiobiological assumptions for the model development (e.g., tissue radiosensitivity, tissue recovery, cellular repopulation, cell migration or even bystander effects, etc.) [18,19,44,71-75]. For example, in PRRT with ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC, the consideration of patientspecific kidney tissue volumes and modelling of dose rate and fractionation effects were found to be essential for finding an absorbed dose-response relationship of kidney toxicity [14]. In EBRT, clinical data argue against the presumed uniform distribution of function and radiobiological properties even in normal tissues typically considered as having parallel architecture [75,76]. Also, tissues with a diminished functional capacity (due to, e.g., patient pre-existent clinical conditions, effect of previous therapies, etc.) may be associated with an increased radiosensitivity which can affect how an organ responds to irradiation [71,72,75,77].

Heterogeneity of absorbed dose distribution in radiopharmaceutical therapy with ¹⁷⁷Lu- and ⁹⁰Y-radiolabelled somatostatin analogues

PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Lu- and ⁹⁰Y-radiolabelled somatostatin analogues is an established, well-tolerated, and effective radiopharmaceutical therapy for neuroendocrine tumours [78,21–23]. The kidney is, however, a major OAR and is generally considered an absorbed dose-limiting organ [14,77,79]. Consequently, patient-specific kidney dosimetry is increasingly being used clinically as a tool for PRRT treatment planning, evaluation, and optimization.

Despite the relatively early evidence on the heterogeneous distribution of radiolabelled peptides in human kidneys [4], little literature exists so far on the absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues of PRRT and its influence in clinical nephrotoxicity. Most kidney absorbed doses reported in the literature for 177 Lu- and 90 Y-radiolabelled peptides are calculated using *S* values determined with single-region kidney or sphere models [80,81], which suppose the assumption of a uniform distribution of radioactivity and absorbed dose throughout kidney tissues [11,15,77,82–84]. Mean absorbed doses to kidneys, based on voxel-based dosimetry methods and patient-specific activity distributions in kidney tissues derived with planar or single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) imaging, have also been reported [85–88]. Except for the work by Baechler et al. [87], however, these studies did not report any quantitative analysis on the heterogeneity of the sub-kidney dose distribution.

Most studies considering absorbed dose heterogeneity in the kidneys perform dosimetry at a regional (i.e., intermediate) level, based on the multiregional model of MIRD19 [13,14,32,89]. For compounds that are concentrated in the proximal tubules (such as radiolabelled somatostatin analogues), the radionuclide may be considered to be localized primarily in the renal cortex region for dosimetry at an intermediate level. MIRD pamphlet No. 19 showed that, for a ⁹⁰Y activity fully localized in the cortex compartment, the absorbed dose to the cortex would be about 1.3 times that of the single-region model, whereas the medullary absorbed dose would be less than 30% of that same single-region dose value [32]. Similar results were obtained with ¹³¹I, a radionuclide with a beta-particle emission spectrum similar to that of ¹⁷⁷Lu. Other investigators have performed dosimetry of kidney tissue regions, using the MIRD19 model, to estimate biological kidney response (cf. next section) [13,14,89]. More detailed kidney absorbed dose estimations at sub-organ level have been performed by Konijnenberg et al. and Baechler et al. [7,12,87], as described below.

Aiming to establish a feasible image-based patientspecific dosimetry approach for PRRT, Baechler et al. [87] calculated mean absorbed doses and DVHs of the renal cortex and the medulla for PRRT with ⁹⁰Y, ¹⁷⁷Lu, and ¹¹¹In, using a voxel-based approach based on direct Monte Carlo absorbed dose calculations and the activity distributions of serial SPECT images of ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide. Kidney absorbed dose heterogeneity, expressed in terms of the cortex-to-medulla dose ratio, was considerable and was more pronounced for 177 Lu (2.26) and 90 Y (1.95), than for 111 In (1.35). The DVHs indicated that the portion of the cortex receiving a high absorbed dose is larger for the ¹⁷⁷Lu distribution than for ⁹⁰Y. Yet, the difference in DVHs was not so marked, particularly when comparing ¹⁷⁷Lu and ⁹⁰Y, as would be expected from the considerable difference in tissue penetration range of their beta particles (maximum range of 12 mm for ⁹⁰Y, against 2.1 mm for ¹⁷⁷Lu). Although not explicitly addressed in the study, this was presumably related to the use of a rather large voxel size (4.5 mm width)

for absorbed dose calculations and the poor spatial resolution of the SPECT images (typically 7-15 mm [90]) relative to the range of 177 Lu and 90 Y beta particles.

Going towards a more detailed and more realistic representation of the activity distribution of radiopeptides in kidney tissues, Konijnenberg et al. [7] investigated the impact of the heterogeneity of radionuclide distribution in kidney tissues reported by De Jong et al. [4] for ¹¹¹In-DTPAoctreotide. Absorbed dose distributions in the kidneys were calculated for PRRT with ⁹⁰Y-, ¹⁷⁷Lu-, and ¹¹¹Inradiolabelled somatostatin analogues. Two dosimetry methods based on direct Monte Carlo radiation transport simulations were used for analysing absorbed dose heterogeneity. In the first method, autoradiography data were used in a 2D model of the kidney tissue sections. In the second method, a voxel lattice was implemented inside the cortex region of the MIRD19 kidney model to generate a 3D representation of the streaky uptake pattern seen in the autoradiographs. Using isodose curves and DVHs, the authors showed that the heterogeneous activity distribution considerably affects the absorbed dose distribution, generating regions within the kidney and within the cortex with significantly lower and higher doses than the average kidney absorbed dose. This effect of absorbed dose heterogeneity is much more pronounced for ¹⁷⁷Lu than for ⁹⁰Y, which results in more averaging of doses inside the kidney regions. Konijnenberg et al. concluded that for high-energy beta emitters, such as ⁹⁰Y, a reasonably accurate kidney dosimetry for radionuclide therapy can be achieved using the MIRD19 kidney model. In contrast, low-energy beta emitters, such as ¹⁷⁷Lu, and Auger-electron emitters, such as ¹¹¹In, produce absorbed dose distributions in the kidneys that are very dependent on the activity distribution pattern in the kidney and even within the renal cortex. This limits the appropriateness of the MIRD19 model and imposes a need for using voxel-based dosimetry and DVHs analysis. Unfortunately, the quality of histological images used to analyse the autoradiography data were not sufficient to enable activity quantification and absorbed dose estimation at the level of nephron substructures (e.g., glomeruli, proximal tubules).

Kidney absorbed dose-response modelling in radiopharmaceutical therapy

In radiopharmaceutical therapy, absorbed dose heterogeneity in kidneys results from gradients of radiopharmaceutical uptake across the nephron substructures. Collectively, specific nephron substructures constitute specific renal tissues: the renal cortex and distinct medullary regions. For analysing and estimating nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy, distinct renal tissue regions may be considered, like nephron substructures, having a serial architecture. This reasoning has led some to assume that renal dysfunction will occur if any renal tissue region is severely damaged [13,91]. The renal cortex is often assumed to be the absorbed doselimiting target for nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy because this tissue region contains the glomeruli, which are key for renal function, and because of the high absorbed doses expected in this tissue due to the high uptake of some radiopharmaceuticals in the proximal tubules [13,14,89]. Thus, the renal cortex is the main dosimetry target of studies on kidney response modelling addressing absorbed dose heterogeneity on a tissue region level.

Several investigators applied absorbed dose-response modelling in PRRT, some with considerations of dose heterogeneity in kidney tissues, to investigate the absorbed dose dependence of clinical toxicity data or in a theoretical approach to estimate nephrotoxicity [89,91,12–14]. The LQ model-based BED is often used to model the biological effect of distinct time-irradiation patterns between radiopharmaceutical therapy schemes and between radiotherapy modalities [12,14,15,77,91]. In PRRT with ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC, the analysis of the absorbed dose dependence of nephrotoxicity data in terms of the kidney BED has shown to be valuable in improving the agreement with dose-toxicity data from EBRT [12,14,92]. The same approach, however, has shown limited usefulness in predicting the nephrotoxicity in PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled radiopeptides, for which the clinical occurrence of nephrotoxicity seems to be lower than that expected from dose-toxicity data of EBRT and PRRT with ⁹⁰Y-labelled peptides [11,92]. Based on that, it was suggested that the microscopic absorbed dose distribution needs to be considered for analysing the nephrotoxicity in PRRT with low- to medium-energy electrons and beta particles [7,8]. Compared with the rather low-energy betas of ¹⁷⁷Lu (133 keV, on average), the higher-energy betas of ⁹⁰Y (933 keV), when emitted from the proximal tubules, are more likely to cross-irradiate distant glomeruli, which would presumably lead to a higher risk of nephrotoxicity. Currently, however, very little scientific literature exists on the consideration of heterogeneous absorbed dose distributions within specific renal tissue regions (such as the cortex) in the modelling of kidney response in radiopharmaceutical therapy.

Barone et al. [14] calculated patient-specific absorbed doses in the renal cortex for ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC based on positron emission tomography (PET) imaging activity data of ⁸⁶Y-DOTA-TOC and the MIRD19 kidney model. Barone et al. found that ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC renal absorbed dose estimates were primarily influenced by the sub-kidney regional distribution of the radionuclide, the size of the target organ (i.e., the kidney), and the absorbed dose rate. Accounting for patient-specific kidney volume and the effect of dose rate through the BED estimation was critical for finding a clear absorbed dose–effect relationship.

Just a few studies attempted to estimate the probability of kidney toxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy [12,13,91], based on cell (or FSU) survival estimations using the LQ model or on the LKB NTCP model coupled with radiobiological dosimetry, as summarized further below. Absorbed dose heterogeneity was considered at a regional tissue level (renal cortex/medulla) [13,91], or at a sub-regional tissue level (within the cortex) [91], thus without discriminating distinct nephron substructures within a tissue region. Similarly, the serial organization of kidney tissues is sometimes considered between the renal cortex and medulla, thus only on a regional tissue level [13,91]. On the other hand, phenomenological NTCP models of the kidney proposed in EBRT do not appear to be directly implemented in radio-pharmaceutical therapy.

Based on the LKB model with kidney absorbed dose thresholds proposed in fractionated EBRT [57], and on an expression of the BED accounting for the protracted and fractionated irradiation of PRRT, Konijnenberg [12] calculated NTCP curves for nephropathy for ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC and predicted an increase in the tolerance absorbed dose in PRRT with respect to EBRT, in agreement with clinical absorbed dose-response data reported later by Barone et al. [14]. A large uncertainty in the tolerance absorbed doses estimated for PRRT was reported by Konijnenberg, due to the large variability in the radiobiological parameters of the LQ model. Additionally, absorbed dose heterogeneity in the renal cortex was demonstrated with DVHs, using Monte Carlo calculations and a lattice-based version of the MIRD19 kidney model with 90Y uniformly distributed in the kidney or in the cortex region. To account for the biological effect of the heterogeneous cortex absorbed dose distributions, the effective volume method (a DVH-reduction method proposed for whole organs in the context of EBRT, [59]) was considered. However, the application of such method in radiopharmaceutical therapy was ultimately deemed speculative because the method assumes a uniform distribution of biological function in renal tissues.

In Wessels et al. [13], the MIRD committee calculated self-irradiation absorbed doses to the renal cortex and medulla for several electron-emitting radionuclides using the MIRD19 kidney model, for several examples of radio-pharmaceutical uptake and clearance in the kidney. Using the LQ model to estimate FSU survival, Wessels et al. computed regionally based surviving fractions for the cortex and medulla and investigated the predicted effect of dose rate and absorbed dose distribution on a regional tissue level (cortex-to-medulla self-dose ratio). Since the radiobiological parameters required for the LQ model were not available in the experimental literature for distinct kidney tissues, Wessels et al. used hypothetical region-specific values, based on the radiosensitivity parameters for the whole kidney for EBRT [93], and on the assumption that the glomeruli (corre-

sponding to the renal cortex region in the dosimetry model) are the most radiosensitive biological target of the kidney. Moreover, Wessels et al. assumed a serial architecture between the cortex and the medulla, a parallel architecture within these regions, and that organ and tissue region failure occurs when more than 75% of the FSUs are inactivated. Their analysis indicated that higher dose rates from short-lived radionuclides or increased localization of radiopharmaceuticals in radiosensitive sub-kidney regions can potentially lead to greater whole-organ toxicity.

A more detailed analysis of dose heterogeneity was performed by Sarnelli et al. [91], who investigated the use of absorbed dose-response modelling to estimate kidney toxicity for different treatment schedules of PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Luand ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TATE and various dosimetry considerations. Response modelling was performed for 12 patients, based on mean kidney absorbed doses determined from patient-specific time-activity data, and on reference DVHs of both homogeneous and heterogeneous activity distributions in the kidney and in the cortex. For the heterogeneous sources, DVHs reported by Konijnenberg et al. [7] and Wessels et al. [13] were considered, after being rescaled to match the patient-specific mean kidney absorbed dose. NTCP was estimated based on the LKB model (including DVH reduction) and BED estimations based on the LQ model for the whole kidney. LKB model parameter values (TD_{50} , m and n) derived from EBRT were used [54,57], as these parameters were not available for radiopharmaceutical therapy. Additionally, for the whole kidney and the cortex, the response was modelled in terms of surviving fraction using a radiobiological expression of the EUD (referred to as EUBED) based on the LO model. The same assumptions about tissue radiosensitivity and architecture and organ failure made by Wessels et al. [13] (previously mentioned) were followed.

Sarnelli et al. [91] found that a heterogeneous activity distribution in the kidney results in lower estimated toxicity, and this effect was more pronounced for the less uniform absorbed dose distribution resulting from ¹⁷⁷Lu (compared with 90 Y). The same effect was observed when considering the response of the cortex only. The estimated surviving fraction was lower in the cortex than in the whole kidney, which Sarnelli et al. expected from the specific DVHs and higher assumed radiosensitivity considered for the cortex. Those results highlight the importance of considering the absorbed dose distribution within the kidney (and the cortex) in the estimation of toxicity. Although a higher NTCP was found for the treatment schedules of ⁹⁰Y than for those of ¹⁷⁷Lu, which may be considered to qualitatively agree with some clinical observations [94,95], a thorough quantitative comparison with clinical PRRT data was beyond the scope of the study. Sarnelli et al. highlighted that more experimental data of different radiopharmaceutical therapies would be required to evaluate the predictive power of their response modelling methods and underlying assumptions. A limitation in their analyses was the lack of patient-specific information on the microscopic radiopharmaceutical absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues. Nonetheless, their study demonstrated the potential applicability of absorbed dose– response modelling for treatment evaluation in radiopharmaceutical therapy.

Discussion and research perspectives

The establishment of absorbed dose-effect relationships based on clinical experience and supported by biophysical modelling promises a basis for individual treatment optimization in radiopharmaceutical therapy, as it facilitates the prediction of collateral toxicity and therapeutic efficacy, and it enables comparison of competing treatment options [17,18,92]. An aspect that complicates the establishment of accurate absorbed dose-effect relationships of nephrotoxicity is the heterogeneous distribution of absorbed dose in kidney tissues. In radiopharmaceutical therapy, the absorbed dose distribution affects kidney response, is dependent on the patient-specific radiopharmaceutical biodistribution, and can be difficult to assess accurately on an individual basis with current clinical imaging techniques. This precludes a direct translation of clinical absorbed dose-response relationships between radiotherapy modalities and between radiopharmaceuticals with distinctive spatial dose distributions, as appears to be the case between ⁹⁰Y- and ¹⁷⁷Lulabelled somatostatin analogues used in PRRT. While the effect of dose rate and fractionation in kidney response seems to be accounted for by the LQ model using a radiobiological dose quantity, the impact of kidney absorbed dose heterogeneity in kidney response is still an open and underexplored topic in radiopharmaceutical therapy and even in EBRT [96].

The investigation of sound absorbed dose-response relationships requires knowledge on the biological targets affecting organ response and accurate assessment of the radiation absorbed dose delivered to them, which requires knowing the spatial and temporal distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in tissues and appropriate dosimetry methods. Despite more than two decades of clinical experience of PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Luand ⁹⁰Y-labelled somatostatin analogues, the amount of quantitative clinical data on the absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues is still rather scarce. Although some anatomical models are available for kidney dosimetry to the level of some nephron substructures, the clinical assessment of the microscopic distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in kidney tissues remains a challenge which limits the anatomical resolution of clinical dosimetry. It has been shown that in PRRT the impact of absorbed dose heterogeneity in kidney response has been analysed mainly at a regional tissue level, with dosimetry estimations and response modelling focusing on the renal cortex. This approach is driven by the assumption that this region might reach the limiting absorbed dose for nephrotoxicity and by the difficulty to assess sub-regional (microscopic) kidneytissue activity and absorbed dose distributions. Yet, the distribution of absorbed dose, biological function, and radiobiological characteristics are not (or might not be) uniform throughout the renal cortex, which leads one to a priori anticipate a limited value of regional tissue-level approaches to unravel the impact of any dose heterogeneity. Whether nephrotoxicity is driven by a renal tissue region, or by the collective of a nephron substructure, or by a more complex interplay of local responses of distinct substructures, is currently unknown. This indicates a need to investigate the absorbed dose dependences of distinct renal tissues and even of distinct nephron substructures and their role in nephrotoxicity, which implies a need of quantitative radiobiological research and detailed dosimetry accounting for the heterogeneous distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in renal tissues. Although the developments achieved and the experience gained in biological response modelling in EBRT over the last four decades offer an advanced reference for radiopharmaceutical therapy, in the latter biophysical modelling of normal tissue response is at an earlier stage of development and it requires investigation of methods to account for the effect of heterogeneous absorbed dose distributions for the kidneys.

Below we discuss further some challenges and propose detailed research directions, in line with the strategic research agendas of EURADOS, MELODI and EURAMED [24–26], concerning the assessment and the impact of the heterogeneous absorbed dose distribution in kidney tissues resulting from radiopharmaceuticals in nephrotoxicity and its consideration in biophysical kidney response modelling.

Radiopharmaceutical biodistribution

Methods that allow to quantify the detailed activity distribution of radiopharmaceuticals within tissue over time are required to evaluate the absorbed dose distribution of radiopharmaceutical therapy. Biodistribution investigations in human tissues require the use of *in vivo* methods, particularly for non-blood normal tissues, such as SPECT and PET, which are used in clinical biodistribution studies of radiopharmaceutical therapy [28,97]. However, quantitative SPECT imaging of therapeutic radionuclides can be a challenge because their suitability for imaging (yield of suitable photon emissions) is secondary compared to their therapeutic properties [90]. Furthermore, the trade-off between detection sensitivity and spatial resolution in SPECT imaging or the effects of detector width and the posi-

tron range in PET imaging, limit the spatial resolution of emission tomography to a few millimetres. This restricts the capability to resolve heterogeneous radionuclide distributions at a lower dimension scale, e.g. in the micrometre scale [90]. Therefore, emission tomography techniques have been used to derive the biodistribution of theranostic radiopharmaceuticals mainly at the organ level, and occasionally at the level of some main organ tissue regions, such as the renal cortex and the medulla for the kidneys [87,98].

To overcome the above-mentioned limitation, complementary methods may be used to derive time-dependent radiopharmaceutical distribution at the level of relevant tissues or even substructures, like nephron substructures for kidneys. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) models with specific compartments dedicated to relevant tissue substructures could be useful for computing the timedependent microscopic distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in human tissues [99,100]. Such biokinetic models can be developed, calibrated, refined, and validated using experimental data from biodistribution studies in animals and humans [101,102]. Another approach for estimating human microscopic time-integrated activity (TIA) data consists in allocating human tissue macroscopic TIA data (measurable in vivo) to microscopic human tissue substructures based on microscopic TIA data derived from an animal model and reference anatomical and physiological data of the human and the animal tissue. Such kind of methodology has been proposed for small-scale human kidney dosimetry [9]. While clinical imaging tools with the higher spatial resolution are developed, preclinical studies will continue to play a key role in the investigation of microscopic distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in animal tissues [103]. Indeed, pharmacokinetic distribution in sub-organ and microscale can be obtained in preclinical models thanks to the possibility to perform high-resolution imaging ex vivo on dissected tissues using quantitative autoradiography or even mass spectrometry techniques [6,104–107]. Further research on methods to translate animal biodistribution data to humans is therefore of interest in radiopharmaceutical therapy [108,109].

Absorbed dose distribution

The level of dosimetric detail required to unravel the nephrotoxicity of different radiopharmaceuticals still needs to be understood. Starting with sub-organ dosimetry estimations at an intermediate level might be a good starting point, yet for some radionuclides small-scale dosimetry at the level of microscopic renal substructures might be required [6,7,9]. For the potentially highly heterogeneous absorbed dose distributions resulting from low- to medium-energy electron and beta-particle emitting radiopharmaceuticals, a question that needs to be addressed is the role of local damage to

specific nephron substructures in nephrotoxicity. This becomes of greater importance given the increasing interest in radiopharmaceutical therapy with alpha particles, which deposit their energy closely to the point of emission and are highly cytotoxic due to their high linear energy transfer [110]. While the latter is a good characteristic for more localized and potent irradiation of malignant cells, it might be adverse for specific substructures of the kidney with substantial radiopharmaceutical retention [16].

More detailed anatomical phantoms of human tissues will be useful to investigate the heterogeneous absorbed dose distribution at the millimetre and microscopic scale, particularly in tissue substructures that can be dose-limiting in radiopharmaceutical therapy, such as those with high radiosensitivity or receiving high absorbed doses or with a key role in organ function. Such phantoms may be customized further to represent better a variety of patient anatomical characteristics relevant to dosimetry and radiobiological modelling of nephrotoxicity.

Currently no kidney model includes the outer stripe of the outer medulla as a separate compartment, even though this tissue consists of proximal tubules, where there can be significant retention of fast-clearing relatively small radioligands [6,8]. The level of detail might be increased further to account for the 3D arrangement of distinct types of nephrons and their substructures, to investigate the contribution of the absorbed dose-related damage to these compartments to the kidney absorbed dose-response. Furthermore, anatomical variability could encompass factors such as the size of the kidney and renal tissues, the number of nephrons in the kidney, the size of nephrons and their substructures, etc. [111]. Some of these anatomical characteristics are correlated with patient age and clinical patient-specific (renal) conditions which have been identified as risk factors for nephrotoxicity in PRRT with radiolabelled peptides [2,77].

Because of the difficulty of assessing radiopharmaceutical distribution at the microscopic scale in human tissues in vivo, absorbed dose heterogeneity at the sub-millimetre and the microscopic scale and its impact on a biological response need to be investigated in animal models. Therefore, improved activity quantification and dosimetry methods are also required for the animal murine models typically used in radiopharmaceutical therapy investigations [6,74,112]. Similarly, as for human kidneys, 3D models of murine kidney tissues with more compartments and with an improved anatomical realism would be helpful to investigate the role of damage to distinct renal substructures associated with a heterogeneous dose distribution in kidney response [6,8]. This information can be particularly relevant to evaluate and compare the nephrotoxicity risk associated with different radioligands being preclinically tested, and to evaluate the effectiveness of renoprotective strategies for kidney tissues in treatment optimization [2,113]. More realistic absorbed dose estimates of mouse kidney tissues will support the preclinical investigation of absorbed dose– response relationships of specific kidney tissues resulting from novel radiotheranostic agents [8,13]. Such insight, together with prior understanding of dose–response relationships in humans, can be useful in the design of first-inhuman trials of novel radioligands, by informing about potential toxicities due to the predicted absorbed dose distribution in human kidney tissues [103]. The more detailed models obtained in preclinical settings may be adapted and integrated into anatomical models for human sub-tissue dosimetry.

More clinical sub-organ detailed dosimetry data of kidney tissues is required to investigate the role of absorbed dose heterogeneity in the response of radiopharmaceutical therapy. A more widespread clinical implementation of DVH will be helpful to quantitatively describe and analyse the absorbed dose distribution of radiopharmaceutical therapy within whole organs and within main organ regions. Contrary to EBRT, the potential of DVH information in predicting the response of radiopharmaceutical therapy still needs to be thoroughly investigated for kidney tissues. This requires substantial amount of patient-specific detailed dosimetry data based on quantitative imaging and clinical response data of the kidney encompassing different levels of toxicity, from many patients and for defined radiopharmaceutical therapy settings with distinct absorbed dose distributions. The exploitation of emission tomography imaging in quantifying the activity distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in the patient is recommended [45,114]. Estimation of DVHs at the level of cortex region is feasible with current state-ofthe-art SPECT and PET imaging capabilities [87]. However, it should be investigated if, with the increasing use of theranostic approaches [115,116], DVHs at kidney and regional cortex level based on activity distributions derived with SPECT or PET can be helpful in the analysis of the tissue response from radiopharmaceutical therapy.

Nonetheless, the spatial resolution of clinical voxel-level absorbed dose estimates based on emission tomography data is likely to limit the effectiveness of DVHs in resolving the influence of heterogeneous microscopic dose distributions on the response to radiopharmaceutical therapy [29,45,90]. One voxel might encompass several tissue substructures, which might differ not only in the actual absorbed dose received, but also in radiobiological characteristics and functional role in the organ. For the kidneys, this can be the case for cortical glomeruli and different segments of the tubules. Thus, the dose at the voxel level might not necessarily be a good predictor of the radiation-induced damage to the tissues that the voxel encompasses nor of the biological response that this damage entails. This is complicated further by the potentially high uncertainties in voxel-level absorbed dose estimates based on SPECT and PET imaging [90,98].

Indeed, the accuracy of emission tomography voxel-level activity data (and, thus, of voxel absorbed-doses) can be highly influenced by several factors, including partial volume effects (PVE) resulting from the limited spatial resolution of the imaging system, image reconstruction settings, photon counting statistics, image post-processing, etc. [29,98]. PVE, in particular, can lead to a potentially high underestimation of the activities in the renal cortex [98]. Furthermore, accurate estimation of voxel-level time-integrated pharmacokinetic data is challenging, as this requires accurate registration, at the voxel level, of the time series of SPECT (or PET) images. All this can lead to high uncertainties in the modelling of the effect of kidney absorbed dose heterogeneity using DVHs of the kidney or the cortex. Therefore, complementary small-scale dosimetry estimates, such as those based on macro-to-micro methods, sub-organ biokinetic modelling and detailed computational phantoms, might nevertheless be required to unravel accurate absorbed dose-response relationships of therapies with different heterogeneous microscopic absorbed dose distributions.

Absorbed dose-response modelling

The potential of biophysical modelling to support individual treatment optimization has been recognized in radiopharmaceutical therapy and there is interest in further developing this field to predict the risk of radiationinduced nephrotoxicity [13,18,45,91,117]. Compared with EBRT, absorbed dose-response modelling in radiopharmaceutical therapy is at an earlier stage of development, particularly when it concerns the response of normal tissues. The amount of scientific literature on response modelling for the kidneys is still scarce, indicating a vast opportunity for research. Models to estimate NTCP of the kidney developed in the context of EBRT might be of interest for radiopharmaceutical therapy. However, any direct translation would require prior thorough testing and validation, and most likely also adaptations to account for differences in the irradiation nature of these modalities [20]. The underlying assumptions of a model would need validation, particularly those relating to considerations of tissue architecture at different anatomical levels used for estimating the effect of heterogeneous absorbed dose distribution.

While partial kidney irradiation in EBRT usually implies the irradiation of a fraction of hundreds of thousands nephrons of the kidney, in radiopharmaceutical therapy implies a differential irradiation of a whole collective of distinct nephron substructures, each of which has distinct (radio)biologic characteristics. Therefore, modelling of the biological response of heterogeneous irradiations of kidney tissues in terms of a parameter of the whole kidney, which does not account for the specificities of different kidney tissues, might not be accurate for the irradiations with radiopharmaceuticals. This indicates a need to evaluate the relevance and accuracy of the volume effect parameters of the LKB model (n) and the generalized EUD of the whole kidney (a) derived from EBRT in radiopharmaceutical therapy, which implies evaluating the assumption of parallel tissue organization throughout kidney tissues [55].

Alternatively, the consideration of a serial dependence between renal tissue regions seems more reasonable for the tissue function-mediated absorbed dose distribution of radiopharmaceutical therapy [13]. Yet, the range of validity of kidney response modelling in terms of toxicity to the whole renal cortex, without discrimination of the absorbed dose-effect of distinct nephron substructures, remains to be determined. DVHs of the renal cortex might not resolve a potentially different kidney response resulting from distinct irradiation of specific nephron substructures. Therefore, (complementary) absorbed dose-response modelling methods to integrate small-scale dosimetry and radiobiological considerations at the level of nephron substructures also deserve attention and research [7,9,110]. Similarly, it remains to be investigated whether the concept of critical functional reserve is valid, or even relevant, for the absorbed dose distribution of radiopharmaceuticals, either at the kidney level (like considered for EBRT [68]), or at regional tissue level (like considered for radiopharmaceutical therapy [13,91]), or at the level of specific nephron substructures.

Concerning the type of NTCP model, phenomenological models based on quantitative radiobiology approaches incorporating organ architecture offer a potential to more realistically model radiation-induced response [70,118]. Their high level of modelling complexity promises a wider range of applicability in terms of irradiation conditions and biological target characteristics, which would facilitate comparative analyses of competing treatment options. That complexity, however, also hinders their integration in clinical practice, as clinical data with which to effectively parametrize the radiobiological, organizational, and spatial absorbed dose dependencies driving organ response is currently insufficient [67,70,72,96]. On the other hand, the mathematical restraint of empirical models facilitates clinical assimilation, as experienced with the LKB model in the field of EBRT [55,119]. This comes, however, at the expense of a narrower range of applicability and little biophysical meaning in model parameters, which might obscure model translation between distinct applications and dampen constructive (bottom-up) model development [75].

Even when considering an empirical NTCP model as a basis, radiobiological considerations can be helpful to extend the applicability of a model to other irradiation conditions and tissues [91,120]. A quantitative understanding of the underlying cellular and tissue radiobiology of kidney irradiations with therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals will be essential to further develop absorbed dose–response modelling

methods appropriate for the irradiation conditions of radiopharmaceutical therapy [74,114,117]. Radiobiological models that account for time-dependent dose rate and cellular repair will be preferred for nephrotoxicity modelling, as these have been shown to significantly improve the correlation with absorbed dose between radiopharmaceuticals, therapy schedules, and EBRT [13,14,91]. The importance in kidney response of other (radio)biological phenomena, such as cellular repopulation, cell migration, radiation-induced immune response or even bystander effects, remains to be examined for radiopharmaceutical therapy [44,73,74]. Furthermore, as in any model, knowledge on the model parameter values is essential for an accurate model result. NTCP and radiobiological dose calculations based on the LQ model typically assume a uniform cellular radiosensitivity and repair capacity throughout the kidney, based on experimental toxicity data derived from external photon-beam irradiations of the entire organ [93]. The investigation of the role of different renal substructures requires, however, knowing the radiobiological model parameters of the different relevant cell populations of the kidney [13]. Such data is, however, currently lacking in the experimental literature.

More clinical absorbed dose and toxicity data will be needed to further develop absorbed dose-response modelling of nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy, as that is the basis for fitting an accurate mathematical function in empirical models and for validation of model assumptions and characterization of model parameters in phenomenological models [74]. The typically low-to-mild incidence of severe nephrotoxicity in radiopharmaceutical therapy poses a challenge to achieve this, in addition to the scarcity of dosimetry data for which the physical details of the nonuniform irradiation are documented [1,92]. Although this situation might improve with the growing number of controlled clinical trials being performed considering activity escalation based on imaging-based patient-specific dosimetry [114], data on moderate-to-high kidney complication needed to derive an accurate function of NTCP will likely remain scarce because such clinical trials are designed to avoid severe nephrotoxicity. Moreover, kidneys might not be the only OAR in radiopharmaceutical therapy, thus, other tissues, typically bone marrow, might be absorbed dose limiting [20,92]. There is a need to identify early biological markers of toxicity that can be used in patients as surrogates of late radiation effects with the aim of gaining a lead time in assessing toxicity, but in particular of improving statistical power by increasing the occurrence of events [71,74]. Barone et al. found an absorbed dose-effect relationship for renal failure [14]. The endpoint was an annual reduction in creatinine clearance of >20%, as not all patients developed G3 (moderate) or G4 (severe) nephrotoxicity. Indeed, the kidney is an organ with a slow cellular turnover, and radiation-induced renal toxicity can manifest many years

after exposure. Other (and more reliable) molecular biomarkers, such as urinary kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1), neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), Cystatin-C (CysC) and urinary clusterin (CLU), have been proposed as endpoints of early kidney injury [121]. Relevant biomarkers may be used to investigate the absorbed dose dependence of acute kidney injury and the value of this in predicting late renal toxicity.

Albeit the relevance of clinical data, preclinical studies on animal models will be needed to provide complementary data difficult or impossible to derive in a clinical setting. Knowledge on the radiobiological basis of kidney response may be best obtained in animal systems, where a controlled, systematic study of the microscopic activity and absorbed dose distribution, diverse biological endpoints of local tissue toxicities, and clinically relevant endpoints of kidney response is possible [6,8]. While a direct extrapolation from mice to humans might be impossible, object lessons and parallelism between reasonably selected applications will remain to be invaluable for the further development of radiopharmaceutical therapy, including the testing and improvement of tissue absorbed dose–response models [74,103].

Finally, due to the increasing power of computers and artificial intelligence-based algorithms able to learn, reason, and build the "digital twin" of a patient, in the next future, the digital twin technology is expected to boost the capacity to describe the kidney radiobiological features and assess the impact of radiopharmaceuticals treatments as for other medicine specialties [122].

Conclusion

Absorbed dose heterogeneity in kidney tissues is an important issue in radiopharmaceutical therapy. The effect of dose heterogeneity in nephrotoxicity is, however, not fully understood yet, which hampers the implementation of treatment optimization by obscuring the interpretation of clinical response data and the selection of optimal treatment options. Although some dosimetry methods have been developed for kidney dosimetry to the level of microscopic renal substructures, the clinical assessment of the microscopic distribution of radiopharmaceuticals remains a challenge which restricts the anatomical resolution of clinical dosimetry and, therefore, hinders a thorough clinical investigation of the impact of dose heterogeneity.

To address several important challenges in this field, future research efforts should focus on several topics, including: a more widespread clinical implementation DVH analyses of the kidney based on patient-specific imaging-based dosimetry, the preclinical investigation of the absorbed dose–response and the radiobiological role in nephrotoxicity of different renal substructures, the development of more detailed and more realistic anatomical dosimetry models of kidney tissues, and the investigation of macro-to-micro methodologies for estimating the pharmacokinetics in the kidney and its sub-compartments.

The potential of absorbed dose-response modelling to support individual treatment optimization in radiopharmaceutical therapy is recognized and gaining attraction in the field. However, it is currently underexplored for the kidney, where particular modelling challenges arise from the convolution of a complex functional organization of renal tissues with the function-mediated absorbed dose distribution of radiopharmaceuticals. The development of biophysical modelling in radiopharmaceutical therapy should benefit from the experience gained in EBRT, but should not be limited to it, as there are significant differences in the temporal and spatial characteristics of dose delivery between these modalities. The scarcity of detailed clinical absorbed dosetoxicity data of the kidney is a major challenge for evaluating and testing NTCP models, which might improve as more controlled clinical studies considering patient-specific dosimetry are performed. Complementary preclinical investigations on animal models with accurate data on the microscopic distribution of radiopharmaceuticals in kidney substructures, sound dosimetry, and quantitative radiobiology will remain essential for developing and testing improved biophysical models suitable for radiopharmaceutical therapy.

Ethical approval

This article does not contain any studies with animals, nor with human participants, performed by any of the authors.

Funding

This work did not receive financial support.

Informed consent

Not applicable.

CRediT author contributions statement

CSV: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MA: Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. CBC: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. WBL: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BM: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. PC: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. LaS: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. LiS: Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors kindly thank the European Platform dedicated to low dose radiation risk research, MELODI (Multidisciplinary European Low Dose Initiative, https:// melodi-online.eu/) for organizing the virtual workshop on "Effects of spatial and temporal variation in dose delivery" (17–20 November 2020) and motivating the preparation of this manuscript.

References

- [1] Stolniceanu CR, Nistor I, Bilha SC, et al. Nephrotoxicity/renal failure after therapy with 90Yttrium- and 177Lutetium-radiolabeled somatostatin analogs in different types of neuroendocrine tumors: a systematic review. Nucl Med Commun 2020;41:601–617.
- [2] Parihar AS, Chopra S, Prasad V. Nephrotoxicity after radionuclide therapies. Transl Oncol 2022;15:101295.
- [3] Flynn AA, Pedley RB, Green AJ, et al. The nonuniformity of antibody distribution in the kidney and its influence on dosimetry. Radiat Res 2003;159:182–189.
- [4] De Jong M, Valkema R, Van Gameren A, et al. Inhomogeneous localization of radioactivity in the human kidney after injection of [(111)In-DTPA]octreotide. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2004;45:1168–1171.
- [5] Melis M, Krenning EP, Bernard BF, Barone R, Visser TJ, de Jong M. Localisation and mechanism of renal retention of radiolabelled somatostatin analogues. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2005;32:1136–1143.
- [6] Saldarriaga Vargas C, Struelens L, D'Huyvetter M, Caveliers V, Covens P. A realistic multi-region mouse kidney dosimetry model to support the preclinical evaluation of potential nephrotoxicity of radiopharmaceutical therapy. *J Nucl Med* 2022, jnumed.122.264453.
- [7] Konijnenberg MW, Melis M, Valkema R, Krenning E, de Jong M. Radiation dose distribution in human kidneys by octreotides in peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2007;48:134–142.
- [8] Svensson J, Mölne J, Forssell-Aronsson E, Konijnenberg M, Bernhardt P. Nephrotoxicity profiles and threshold dose values for [177Lu]-DOTATATE in nude mice. Nucl Med Biol 2012;39:756–762.
- [9] Hobbs RF, Song H, Huso DL, Sundel MH, Sgouros G. A nephronbased model of the kidneys for macro-to-micro α-particle dosimetry. Phys Med Biol 2012;57:4403–4424.
- [10] Jabari M, Rajabi H, Dadashzadeh S. A microdosimetry model of kidney by GATE Monte Carlo simulation using a nonuniform activity distribution in digital phantom of nephron. Nucl Med Commun 2020;41:110–119.
- [11] Bergsma H, Konijnenberg MW, van der Zwan WA, et al. Nephrotoxicity after PRRT with (177)Lu-DOTA-octreotate. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2016;43:1802–1811.

- [12] Konijnenberg MW. Is the renal dosimetry for [90Y-DOTA0, Tyr3] octreotide accurate enough to predict thresholds for individual patients?. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 2003;18:619–625.
- [13] Wessels BW, Konijnenberg MW, Dale RG, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No. 20: the effect of model assumptions on kidney dosimetry and response-implications for radionuclide therapy. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2008;49:1884–1899.
- [14] Barone R, Borson-Chazot F, Valkema R, et al. Patient-specific dosimetry in predicting renal toxicity with (90)Y-DOTATOC: relevance of kidney volume and dose rate in finding a dose-effect relationship. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2005;46(Suppl 1):998–106S.
- [15] Van Binnebeek S, Baete K, Vanbilloen B, et al. Individualized dosimetry-based activity reduction of ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC prevents severe and rapid kidney function deterioration from peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2014;41:1141–1157.
- [16] Kiess AP, Minn I, Vaidyanathan G, et al. (2S)-2-(3-(1-Carboxy-5-(4-211At-Astatobenzamido)Pentyl)Ureido)-Pentanedioic Acid for PSMA-Targeted α-Particle Radiopharmaceutical Therapy. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2016;57:1569–1575.
- [17] Bodei L, Kidd M, Baum RP, Modlin IM. PRRT: Defining the paradigm shift to achieve standardization and individualization. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2014;55:1753–1756.
- [18] Strigari L, Konijnenberg M, Chiesa C, et al. The evidence base for the use of internal dosimetry in the clinical practice of molecular radiotherapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2014;41:1976–1988.
- [19] D'Andrea M, Benassi M, Strigari L. Modeling Radiotherapy Induced Normal Tissue Complications: An Overview beyond Phenomenological Models. Comput Math Methods Med 2016;2016:2796186.
- [20] Wahl RL, Sgouros G, Iravani A, et al. Normal-Tissue Tolerance to Radiopharmaceutical Therapies, the Knowns and the Unknowns. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2021;62:23S–35S.
- [21] Zaknun JJ, Bodei L, Mueller-Brand J, et al. The joint IAEA, EANM, and SNMMI practical guidance on peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRNT) in neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2013;40:800–816.
- [22] Hicks RJ, Kwekkeboom DJ, Krenning E, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the Standards of Care in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy with Radiolabelled Somatostatin Analogues. Neuroendocrinology 2017;105:295–309.
- [23] Kong G, Hicks RJ. Peptide Receptor Radiotherapy: Current Approaches and Future Directions. Curr Treat Options Oncol 2019;20:77.
- [24] Harrison RM, Ainsbury E, Alves J, et al. EURADOS Strategic Research Agenda 2020: Vision for the dosimetry of Ionising Radiation. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 2021;194:42–56.
- [25] Bouffler S, Auvinen A, Baiocco G, et al. Strategic Research Agenda of the Multidisciplinary European Low Dose Initiative (MELODI) – . MELODI 2021;2021:1–29.
- [26] European Association of Nuclear Medicine (EANM), European Federation of Organizations for Medical Physics (EFOMP), European Federation of Radiographer Societies (EFRS), European Society of Radiology (ESR), European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology (ESTRO). Common strategic research agenda for radiation protection in medicine. *Insights Imaging* 2017;8:183–197.
- [27] Bolch WE, Eckerman KF, Sgouros G, Thomas SR. MIRD Pamphlet No. 21: A generalized schema for radiopharmaceutical dosimetry-standardization of nomenclature. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2009;50:477–484.
- [28] Dewaraja YK, Frey EC, Sgouros G, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No. 23: Quantitative SPECT for patient-specific 3-dimensional dosimetry in

internal radionuclide therapy. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2012;53:1310–1325.

- [29] Ljungberg M, Sjogreen GK. 3-D Image-Based Dosimetry in Radionuclide Therapy. IEEE Trans Radiat Plasma Med Sci 2018;2:527–540.
- [30] Stabin MG, Siegel JA. RADAR Dose Estimate Report: A Compendium of Radiopharmaceutical Dose Estimates Based on OLINDA/EXM Version 2.0. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2018;59:154–160.
- [31] Bolch WE, Bouchet LG, Robertson JS, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No 17: The dosimetry of nonuniform activity distributions-radionuclide S values at the voxel level. Medical Internal Radiation Dose Committee. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 1999;40:11S–36S.
- [32] Bouchet LG, Bolch WE, Blanco HP, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No 19: absorbed fractions and radionuclide S values for six age-dependent multiregion models of the kidney. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2003;44:1113–1147.
- [33] Xu XG, Eckerman KF. Handbook of Anatomical Models for Radiation Dosimetry. 1st ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2009.
- [34] Menzel H-G, Clement C, DeLuca P. ICRP Publication 110. Realistic reference phantoms: an ICRP/ICRU joint effort. A report of adult reference computational phantoms. Ann ICRP 2009;39:1–164.
- [35] Kim CH, Yeom YS, Petoussi-Henss N, et al. ICRP Publication 145: Adult Mesh-Type Reference Computational Phantoms. Ann ICRP 2020;49:13–201.
- [36] Katugampola S, Wang J, Rosen A, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No. 27: MIRDcell V3, a revised software tool for multicellular dosimetry and bioeffect modeling. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2022; February, jnumed.121.263253.
- [37] Snyder W, Ford M. A dosimetric study for the administration of Neohydrin labeled with 203Hg and 197Hg. In: Health Physics Division Annual Progress Report. Oak Ridge, Tennessee: Oak Ridge National Laboratory; 1967. p. 267–273.
- [38] McAfee JG. Problems in evaluating the radiation dose for radionuclides excreted by the kidneys. In: Medical Radionuclides: Radiation Dose and Effects. Proceedings of a Symposium Held at the Oak Ridge Associated Universities December 8-11, 1969. Oak Ridge, Tennessee: US Atomic Energy Commission; 1970:271-294.
- [39] Shen CJ, Minn I, Hobbs RF, et al. Auger radiopharmaceutical therapy targeting prostate-specific membrane antigen in a micrometastatic model of prostate cancer. Theranostics 2020;10:2888–2896.
- [40] Fowler JF, Stern BE. Dose-rate effects: some theoretical and practical considerations. Br J Radiol 1960;33:389–395.
- [41] Millar WT. Application of the linear-quadratic model with incomplete repair to radionuclide directed therapy. Br J Radiol 1991;64:242–251.
- [42] Jones B, Dale RG. Mathematical models of tumour and normal tissue response. Acta Oncol Stockh Swed 1999;38:883–893.
- [43] Wouters BG, Brown JM. Cells at intermediate oxygen levels can be more important than the "hypoxic fraction" in determining tumor response to fractionated radiotherapy. Radiat Res 1997;147:541–550.
- [44] Hall EJ, Giaccia AJ. Radiobiology for the Radiologist. 8th Ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2018.
- [45] Sgouros G, Bolch WE, Chiti A, et al. ICRU Report 96: Dosimetry-Guided Radiopharmaceutical Therapy. J ICRU 2021;21:1–212.
- [46] Barendsen GW. Dose fractionation, dose rate and iso-effect relationships for normal tissue responses. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1982;8:1981–1997.
- [47] Fowler JF. The linear-quadratic formula and progress in fractionated radiotherapy. Br J Radiol 1989;62:679–694.

- [48] Dale RG. The application of the linear-quadratic dose-effect equation to fractionated and protracted radiotherapy. Br J Radiol 1985;58:515–528.
- [49] Niemierko A. Reporting and analyzing dose distributions: a concept of equivalent uniform dose. Med Phys 1997;24:103–110.
- [50] Hobbs RF, Baechler S, Fu D-X, et al. A model of cellular dosimetry for macroscopic tumors in radiopharmaceutical therapy. Med Phys 2011;38:2892–2903.
- [51] Schultheiss TE, Orton CG, Peck RA. Models in radiotherapy: volume effects. Med Phys 1983;10:410–415.
- [52] Niemierko A. A generalized concept of equivalent uniform dose (EUD). (Abstract WE-C2-09). In: 1999 AAPM Annual Meeting Program. Nashville, Tennessee: AAPM; 1999:1100-1100.
- [53] Lyman JT. Complication probability as assessed from dose-volume histograms. Radiat Res Suppl 1985;8:S13–S19.
- [54] Burman C, Kutcher GJ, Emami B, Goitein M. Fitting of normal tissue tolerance data to an analytic function. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1991;21:123–135.
- [55] Dawson LA, Kavanagh BD, Paulino AC, et al. Radiation-Associated Kidney Injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76: S108–S115.
- [56] Emami B. Tolerance of Normal Tissue to Therapeutic Radiation. Rep Radiother Oncol 2013;1:123–130.
- [57] Emami B, Lyman J, Brown A, et al. Tolerance of normal tissue to therapeutic irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1991;21:109–122.
- [58] Bentzen SM, Constine LS, Deasy JO, et al. Quantitative Analyses of Normal Tissue Effects in the Clinic (QUANTEC): an introduction to the scientific issues. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:S3–S9.
- [59] Kutcher GJ, Burman C. Calculation of complication probability factors for non-uniform normal tissue irradiation: the effective volume method. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1989;16: 1623–1630.
- [60] Bentzen SM, Tucker SL. Quantifying the position and steepness of radiation dose-response curves. Int J Radiat Biol 1997;71:531–542.
- [61] Zaider M, Amols HI. Practical considerations in using calculated healthy-tissue complication probabilities for treatment-plan optimization. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999;44:439–447.
- [62] Wheldon TE, Deehan C, Wheldon EG, Barrett A. The linearquadratic transformation of dose-volume histograms in fractionated radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol 1998;46:285–295.
- [63] Park CS, Kim Y, Lee N, et al. Method to account for dose fractionation in analysis of IMRT plans: modified equivalent uniform dose. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;62:925–932.
- [64] Withers HR, Taylor JM, Maciejewski B. Treatment volume and tissue tolerance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1988;14:751–759.
- [65] Archambeau JO, Shymko RM. Tissue population configuration as a modifier of organ dose response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1988;15:727–734.
- [66] Källman P, Agren A, Brahme A. Tumour and normal tissue responses to fractionated non-uniform dose delivery. Int J Radiat Biol 1992;62:249–262.
- [67] Jackson A, Kutcher GJ, Yorke ED. Probability of radiation-induced complications for normal tissues with parallel architecture subject to non-uniform irradiation. Med Phys 1993;20:613–625.
- [68] Niemierko A, Goitein M. Modeling of normal tissue response to radiation: the critical volume model. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1993;25:135–145.
- [69] Yorke ED, Kutcher GJ, Jackson A, Ling CC. Probability of radiation-induced complications in normal tissues with parallel architecture under conditions of uniform whole or partial organ

irradiation. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol 1993;26:226-237.

- [70] Stavrev P, Stavreva N, Niemierko A, Goitein M. Generalization of a model of tissue response to radiation based on the idea of functional subunits and binomial statistics. Phys Med Biol 2001;46:1501–1518.
- [71] Bentzen SM, Parliament M, Deasy JO, et al. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints for normal-tissue effects of radiation therapy: the importance of dose-volume effects. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:S145–S150.
- [72] Moiseenko V, Bowen SR, Kirkpatrick JP, Jeraj R, Marks LB. Biological Imaging and Radiobiological Modeling for Treatment Planning and Response Assessment in Radiation Therapy. Advanced and Emerging Technologies in Radiation Oncology Physics. CRC Press; 2018.
- [73] Mladenov E, Li F, Zhang L, Klammer H, Iliakis G. Intercellular communication of DNA damage and oxidative status underpin bystander effects. Int J Radiat Biol 2018;94:719–726.
- [74] Pouget J-P, Konijnenberg M, Eberlein U, et al. An EANM position paper on advancing radiobiology for shaping the future of nuclear medicine. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2022;September.
- [75] Tommasino F, Nahum A, Cella L. Increasing the power of tumour control and normal tissue complication probability modelling in radiotherapy: recent trends and current issues. Transl Cancer Res 2017;6:S807–S821.
- [76] Voshart DC, Wiedemann J, van Luijk P, Barazzuol L. Regional Responses in Radiation-Induced Normal Tissue Damage. Cancers 2021;13:367.
- [77] Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Ferrari M, et al. Long-term evaluation of renal toxicity after peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 90Y-DOTATOC and 177Lu-DOTATATE: the role of associated risk factors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2008;35:1847–1856.
- [78] Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, et al. Phase 3 Trial of 177Lu-Dotatate for Midgut Neuroendocrine Tumors. N Engl J Med 2017;376:125–135.
- [79] Sandström M, Garske-Román U, Granberg D, et al. Individualized dosimetry of kidney and bone marrow in patients undergoing 177Lu-DOTA-octreotate treatment. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2013;54:33–41.
- [80] Cristy M, Eckerman KF. In: Specific absorbed fractions of energy at various ages from internal photon sources. Volume I: Methods. Oak Ridge, Tennessee: Oak Ridge National Laboratory; 1987. p. 1–100.
- [81] Stabin MG, Konijnenberg MW. Re-evaluation of absorbed fractions for photons and electrons in spheres of various sizes. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2000;41:149–160.
- [82] Willowson KP, Eslick E, Ryu H, Poon A, Bernard EJ, Bailey DL. Feasibility and accuracy of single time point imaging for renal dosimetry following 177Lu-DOTATATE ('Lutate') therapy. EJNMMI Phys 2018;5:33.
- [83] Thakral P, Sen I, Pant V, et al. Dosimetric analysis of patients with gastro entero pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) treated with PRCRT (peptide receptor chemo radionuclide therapy) using Lu-177 DOTATATE and capecitabine/temozolomide (CAP/TEM). Br J Radiol 2018;91:20170172.
- [84] Chicheportiche A, Ben-Haim S, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, et al. Dosimetry after peptide receptor radionuclide therapy: impact of reduced number of post-treatment studies on absorbed dose calculation and on patient management. EJNMMI Phys 2020;7:5.
- [85] Garkavij M, Nickel M, Sjögreen-Gleisner K, et al. 177Lu-[DOTA0, Tyr3] octreotate therapy in patients with disseminated neuroendocrine tumors: Analysis of dosimetry with impact on future therapeutic strategy. Cancer 2010;116:1084–1092.

- [86] Claringbold PG, Brayshaw PA, Price RA, Turner JH. Phase II study of radiopeptide 177Lu-octreotate and capecitabine therapy of progressive disseminated neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2011;38:302–311.
- [87] Baechler S, Hobbs RF, Boubaker A, et al. Three-dimensional radiobiological dosimetry of kidneys for treatment planning in peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Med Phys 2012;39:6118–6128.
- [88] Sundlöv A, Sjögreen-Gleisner K, Svensson J, et al. Individualised 177Lu-DOTATATE treatment of neuroendocrine tumours based on kidney dosimetry. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2017;44:1480–1489.
- [89] Baechler S, Hobbs RF, Prideaux AR, Recordon M, Bischof-Delaloye A, Sgouros G. Estimates of radiation-absorbed dose to kidneys in patients treated with 90Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 2008;23:633–639.
- [90] St James S, Bednarz B, Benedict S, et al. Current Status of Radiopharmaceutical Therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021;109:891–901.
- [91] Sarnelli A, Guerriero F, Botta F, et al. Therapeutic schemes in 177Lu and 90Y-PRRT: radiobiological considerations. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging Off Publ Ital Assoc Nucl Med AIMN Int Assoc Radiopharmacol IAR Sect Soc Of 2017;61:216–231.
- [92] Cremonesi M, Ferrari ME, Bodei L, et al. Correlation of dose with toxicity and tumour response to 90Y- and 177Lu-PRRT provides the basis for optimization through individualized treatment planning. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2018;45:2426–2441.
- [93] Thames H, Hendry J. Fractionation in Radiotherapy. London and Philadelphia: Taylor & Francis; 1987.
- [94] Imhof A, Brunner P, Marincek N, et al. Response, survival, and long-term toxicity after therapy with the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue [90Y-DOTA]-TOC in metastasized neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 2011;29:2416–2423.
- [95] Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Grana CM, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE: the IEO phase I-II study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2011;38:2125–2135.
- [96] Lopez-Gaitan J, Ebert MA, Robins P, et al. Radiotherapy of abdomen with precise renal assessment with SPECT/CT imaging (RAPRASI): design and methodology of a prospective trial to improve the understanding of kidney radiation dose response. BMC Cancer 2013;13:381.
- [97] Ljungberg M, Celler A, Konijnenberg MW, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No. 26: Joint EANM/MIRD Guidelines for Quantitative 177Lu SPECT Applied for Dosimetry of Radiopharmaceutical Therapy. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2016;57:151–162.
- [98] Tran-Gia J, Salas-Ramirez M, Lassmann M. What You See Is Not What You Get: On the Accuracy of Voxel-Based Dosimetry in Molecular Radiotherapy. J Nucl Med 2020;61:1178–1186.
- [99] Zaid NRR, Kletting P, Winter G, Prasad V, Beer AJ, Glatting G. A Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Model for In Vivo Alpha Particle Generators Targeting Neuroendocrine Tumors in Mice. Pharmaceutics 2021;13:2132.
- [100] Höllriegl V, Petoussi-Henss N, Hürkamp K, Ocampo Ramos JC, Li WB. Radiopharmacokinetic modelling and radiation dose assessment of 223Ra used for treatment of metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer. EJNMMI Phys 2021;8:44.
- [101] Kletting P, Muller B, Erentok B, et al. Differences in predicted and actually absorbed doses in peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Med Phys 2012;39:5708–5717.
- [102] Hardiansyah D, Riana A, Kletting P, et al. A population-based method to determine the time-integrated activity in molecular radiotherapy. EJNMMI Phys 2021;8:82.

- [103] Sgouros G, Hobbs RF, Abou DS. The role of preclinical models in radiopharmaceutical therapy. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book Am Soc Clin Oncol Annu Meet* 2014:e121–e125.
- [104] Bäck T, Jacobsson L. The alpha-camera: a quantitative digital autoradiography technique using a charge-coupled device for ex vivo high-resolution bioimaging of alpha-particles. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2010;51:1616–1623.
- [105] Tessier C, Suhard D, Rebière F, Souidi M, Dublineau I, Agarande M. Uranium microdistribution in renal cortex of rats after chronic exposure: a study by secondary ion mass spectrometry microscopy. Microsc Microanal Off J Microsc Soc Am Microbeam Anal Soc Microsc Soc Can 2012;18:123–133.
- [106] Miller BW. Radiation Imagers for Quantitative, Single-particle Digital Autoradiography of Alpha- and Beta-particle Emitters. Semin Nucl Med 2018;48:367–376.
- [107] Grijalba N, Legrand A, Holler V, Bouvier-Capely C. A novel calibration strategy based on internal standard-spiked gelatine for quantitative bio-imaging by LA-ICP-MS: application to renal localization and quantification of uranium. Anal Bioanal Chem 2020;412:3113–3122.
- [108] Beykan S, Fani M, Jensen SB, et al. In Vivo Biokinetics of 177Lu-OPS201 in Mice and Pigs as a Model for Predicting Human Dosimetry. Contrast Media Mol Imaging 2019;2019:6438196.
- [109] Cicone F, Viertl D, Denoël T, Stabin MG, Prior JO, Gnesin S. Comparison of absorbed dose extrapolation methods for mouse-tohuman translation of radiolabelled macromolecules. EJNMMI Res 2022;12:21.
- [110] Sgouros G, Frey E, Du Y, Hobbs R, Bolch W. Imaging and dosimetry for alpha-particle emitter radiopharmaceutical therapy: improving radiopharmaceutical therapy by looking into the black box. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2021;49:18–29.
- [111] Charlton JR, Baldelomar EJ, Hyatt DM, Bennett KM. Nephron number and its determinants: a 2020 update. Pediatr Nephrol 2021;36:797–807.
- [112] Vargas CS, Struelens L, D'Huyvetter M, Caveliers V, Covens P. Assessment of mouse-specific pharmacokinetics in kidneys based

on 1311 activity measurements using micro-SPECT. EJNMMI Phys 2022;9:13.

- [113] Chigoho DM, Bridoux J, Hernot S. Reducing the renal retention of low- to moderate-molecular-weight radiopharmaceuticals. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2021;63:219–228.
- [114] Lassmann M, Eberlein U, Gear J, Konijnenberg M, Kunikowska J. Dosimetry for Radiopharmaceutical Therapy: The European Perspective. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2021;62: 73S–79S.
- [115] Eberlein U, Cremonesi M, Lassmann M. Individualized Dosimetry for Theranostics: Necessary, Nice to Have, or Counterproductive? J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 2017;58:978–103S.
- [116] Turner JH. An introduction to the clinical practice of theranostics in oncology. Br J Radiol 2018;91:20180440.
- [117] Strigari L, Benassi M, Chiesa C, Cremonesi M, Bodei L, D'Andrea M. Dosimetry in nuclear medicine therapy: radiobiology application and results. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging Off Publ Ital Assoc Nucl Med AIMN Int Assoc Radiopharmacol IAR Sect Soc Of 2011;55:205–221.
- [118] Ling CC, Kutcher GJ, Mohan R. Understanding radiation damage in late effect normal tissues: learning to negotiate the dose-volumecomplication terrain or waiting for Godot? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1995;31:1357–1360.
- [119] Marks LB, Yorke ED, Jackson A, et al. Use of normal tissue complication probability models in the clinic. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:S10–S19.
- [120] Lin H, Jing J, Xu L, Wu D, Xu Y. Combining the LKB NTCP model with radiosensitivity parameters to characterize toxicity of radionuclides based on a multiclonogen kidney model: a theoretical assessment. Australas Phys Eng Sci Med 2012;35:165–176.
- [121] Obert LA, Elmore SA, Ennulat D, Frazier KS. A Review of Specific Biomarkers of Chronic Renal Injury and Their Potential Application in Nonclinical Safety Assessment Studies. Toxicol Pathol 2021;49:996–1023.
- [122] Crea F. Focus on hypertension but also on the "the digital twin" and on kidney function and disease. Eur Heart J 2020;41:4531–4534.

Available online at: www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect